Surveyors acting as expert witnesses

RICS practice statement (3rd edition) – client copy



Important note

Readers of this document are referred also to the copyright notice on page 1 of this publication.

Acknowledgments

Crown copyright material is reproduced with the permission of the Controller of HMSO and the Queen's Printer for Scotland.

Published by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS)

Surveyor Court

Westwood Business Park

Coventry CV4 8JE, UK

www.ricsbooks.com

No responsibility for loss or damage caused to any person acting or refraining from action as a result of the material included in this publication can be accepted by the authors or RICS.

Produced under the auspices of the RICS Dispute Resolution Faculty.

© Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) October 2008. Copyright in all or part of this publication rests with RICS, and save by prior consent of RICS or as otherwise permitted, no part or parts shall be reproduced by any means electronic, mechanical, photocopying or otherwise, now known or to be devised.

Typeset by Columns Design Ltd, Reading, Berks

Contents

Copyright notice		1
Surveyors acting as expert witnesses: practice statement		
	RICS practice statements	2
	Preamble	4
	Principal message	5
PS 1	Application of practice statement	5
PS 2	Duty in providing expert evidence	6
PS 3	Acting as an expert witness, and instructions	7
PS 4	Inspections	8
PS 5	Reports and oral evidence	8
PS 6	Amendment of the contents of written reports	10
PS 7	Agreeing facts and resolving differences	11
PS 8	Single Joint Expert (SJE)	11
PS 9	Advocacy and expert witness roles	12
PS 10	Conditional fees	13
	Appendix: Definitions	14
	Acknowledgments	17

Copyright notice

Copyright in this practice statement (PS) belongs to the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). Copyright does not apply to the Statement of Truth specified at PS 5.1(i).

The wording of the Statement of Truth and declarations (PS 5.1(i) and (j)) may be used in expert reports without the need to seek prior consent from RICS.

An acknowledgment of RICS copyright ownership should appear on any extract from, or copy of, the PS that is reproduced, save when the Statement of Truth (PS 5.1(i)) or other declarations (PS 5.1(j)) are being used in expert reports.

Reproduction (other than as specified above) or republishing in any format requires express written permission from RICS. A request for such permission, or any other enquiry related to copyright, may be addressed to:

RICS Publishing and Content Services

Surveyor Court Westwood Way Coventry CV4 8JE United Kingdom

Surveyors acting as expert witnesses

RICS practice statements

This is a practice statement (PS). There may be disciplinary consequences for RICS members for a failure to comply with a PS.

RICS members should also note that when an allegation of professional negligence is made against them, the court is likely to take account of any relevant PS published by RICS in deciding whether or not they acted with reasonable competence. Failure to comply with practice statements may, accordingly, lead to a finding of negligence against an RICS member.

In the opinion of RICS, if RICS members conform to the requirements of this PS they should have at least a partial defence to an allegation of negligence by virtue of having followed those practices.

Where RICS members depart from the practice required by this PS, they should do so only for good reason and the client must be informed in writing of the fact of and the reasons for the departure. In the event of litigation, the court may require you to explain why you decided to act as you did. Also, an RICS member who has not followed this PS and whose actions are called into question in an RICS disciplinary case, may be asked to justify the steps he or she took.

Investigation of alleged breaches of a practice statement

In the interest of maintaining the highest professional standards, breaches of any aspect of a practice statement that are reported to RICS will be reviewed, and may be investigated, by RICS Regulation, normally when the underlying dispute has been resolved. Reports of this nature should be made in writing and can be made confidentially to:

RICS Regulation PO Box 2291 Coventry CV4 8ZJ United Kingdom

T: + 44 (0)20 7695 1670

E: regulation@rics.org

Any RICS member adjudged to merit referral by RICS investigative staff may be referred for disciplinary action. If the relevant disciplinary body considers it justified, an RICS member may be publicly reprimanded, fined and/or expelled from RICS, depending on the severity of the breach.

Comments on this publication

Although RICS cannot undertake to respond personally to each such communication, if you have any comments or feedback on any aspect of this publication, please feel free to write to:

RICS Dispute Resolution Faculty

12 Great George Street

London

SW1P 3AD

United Kingdom

E: dr.faculty@rics.org

Surveyors acting as expert witnesses: practice statement

Preamble

Whilst in general this text is gender neutral, on occasions where masculine terms only are used (such as in legislation quotes) these should be taken as also referring to the feminine (e.g. 'she', 'her'), and to 'they' or 'it' (in the case of a corporate body), as the context so requires.

References to the singular also include the plural and vice versa where the context so requires. Unless otherwise specified, references to 'you', 'member', 'surveyor' or to 'expert witness surveyor' are to members of RICS of any class of membership, save for Honorary Members. References to 'PS' denote 'practice statement'.

Where you are acting as an Assessor, Valuation Officer, Listing Officer, District Valuer or Commissioner of Valuation (or as an authorised representative thereof) in local taxation matters and are acting in pursuit of a statutory duty, you will not usually be operating in a client/adviser framework and will generally not have a direct client.

There are variations in terminology, legislation and case law references pertinent to expert witness practice across the different legal jurisdictions within the UK. Not all of these are exhaustively referenced below but where it is felt appropriate some are highlighted.

For the purposes of this PS, the generic expression 'tribunal' means any body whose function it is to determine disputes. This therefore includes:

- courts and tribunals (including Lands Tribunals and Agricultural Land Tribunals; Leasehold Valuation Tribunals; Residential Property Tribunals; Valuation Tribunals);
- arbitrators/arbiters or arbitral panels/tribunals;
- adjudicators (including those operating under the *Housing Grants*, *Construction and Regeneration Act* 1996);
- committees (including Rent Assessment Committees, Valuation Appeal Committees);
- inspectors, commissioners and reporters (e.g. in planning proceedings, including Inquiries, Hearings, Examinations in Public – independent panels; Independent Examination and proceedings of the Infrastructure Planning Commission, and Planning and Water Appeals Commissions); and
- independent experts.

Note: It is expected that once provisions of the *Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act* 2007 are implemented, some of the tribunals listed above will take on a different designation, but at the time of publication this is not in place.

Principal message

As a surveyor actively involved in a dispute that may come before a tribunal, you may find yourself carrying out one or more roles, including that of an expert witness. Your primary duty as an expert witness (sometimes referred to as a 'skilled witness' in Scotland) is not to a client but to the tribunal. You will need to follow the requirements of *Surveyors acting as expert witnesses*: RICS practice statement. Your primary duty to the tribunal is to ensure that the expert evidence provided by you:

- must be, and must be seen to be, your independent and unbiased product, and fall within your expertise, experience and knowledge;
- must state the main facts and assumptions it is based upon, and not omit material facts that might be relevant to your conclusions; and
- must be impartial and uninfluenced by those instructing or paying you to give the evidence.

It is imperative that you do not stray from the duties of an expert witness by acting in a partial, misleading or untruthful manner. In those instances when you may adopt a dual role of surveyor-advocate and expert witness, it is also imperative that you differentiate at all times clearly between the two roles (see PS 9).

PS 1 Application of practice statement

- 1.1 The start date of application of this PS is 1 January 2009. This PS applies to any RICS member (usually described hereafter as 'the expert witness surveyor' or 'you') who provides expert evidence, whether oral or written, to the proceedings of any tribunal in the United Kingdom, except for criminal proceedings.
- **1.2** This PS does not apply to you when acting in any capacity other than as an expert witness (for example, in the capacity of a witness of fact). In cases where you are using your professional experience, knowledge and expertise in the role of surveyor-advocate, *Surveyors acting as advocates*: RICS practice statement will apply.
- **1.3** You give expert evidence when you draw upon your professional experience, knowledge and expertise to provide evidence to a tribunal, such evidence being distinct from:
 - (a) advice not given for the purpose of a tribunal's proceedings;
 - (b) evidence of fact; and
 - (c) advocacy of a case.
- 1.4 Since this PS only applies to the provision of expert evidence by you when appointed as an expert witness, it does not apply for the purpose of assisting your client to decide whether to initiate or defend proceedings to be heard by a tribunal. However, where you are giving advice in writing to your client and consider that you may be required to give expert evidence in such proceedings, you must advise your client in writing if your advice or investigations would fall short of that necessary to enable expert evidence complying with this PS to be provided.

- **1.5** Where you act as an expert witness and consider that there are special circumstances which render it inappropriate or impractical for the assignment to be undertaken wholly in accordance with this PS, the fact of, and reasons for, the departure must as soon as reasonably practical be given in writing to your client, and must also be contained in any expert report prepared; alternatively you may wish to decline instructions or withdraw from a case. Where you depart from the PS you may be required to justify to RICS the reasons for the departure. RICS is entitled to take disciplinary measures if it is not satisfied with the reasons given and/or the manner in which the departure has been notified or evidenced. In the event of litigation, a court may require you to explain why you decided to act as you did.
- **1.6** The *Civil Procedure Rules* (CPR), together with associated Practice Directions, Forms, Protocols, and court guides, all apply to the procedure of the Supreme Court and the County Court in England and Wales; other rules and procedures may apply elsewhere. Surveyors proposing to act as expert witnesses are, as a matter of professional conduct, expected to make themselves aware of the need to comply with the CPR, or other rules and procedures, and to comply with these in those circumstances when they apply.

PS 2 Duty in providing expert evidence

- 2.1 Your overriding duty as an expert witness surveyor is to the tribunal to whom the expert evidence is given. This duty overrides the contractual duty to your client. The duty to the tribunal is to set out the facts fully and give truthful, impartial and independent opinions, covering all relevant matters, whether or not they favour your client. This applies irrespective of whether or not the evidence is given either on oath or affirmation. Special care must be taken to ensure that expert evidence is not biased towards those who are responsible for instructing or paying you. The duty endures for the whole assignment. Opinions should not be exaggerated or seek to obscure alternative views or other schools of thought, but should instead recognise and, where appropriate, address them.
- **2.2** Where, for any reason, you are unable to comply with any order or direction of the tribunal you must as soon as practicable:
 - (a) prepare a written record of the reason for such non-compliance; and
 - (b) give copies of that record to your client and to the tribunal.
- **2.3** The duty to the tribunal set out at PS 2.1 applies whether your expert evidence is given orally or in writing.
- **2.4** As an expert witness surveyor you must be able to show that you have full knowledge of the duties relating to the role of an expert witness when giving evidence.
- 2.5 You are entitled to accept instructions from your employer to give expert evidence on behalf of that employer. Prior to accepting such instructions, you must satisfy yourself that your employer understands that your primary duty in giving evidence is to the tribunal and that this may mean that your evidence will conflict with your employer's view of the matter or the way in which your employer would prefer to see matters put.

- 2.6 Where you are acting or have previously acted for a party on a matter (in the course of, for instance, negotiations) and the matter requires, or may in the future require, the giving of expert evidence, you must throughout consider, and then decide, whether you can fully satisfy the overriding duty to the tribunal to provide evidence that is truthful, independent, impartial, and complete as to coverage of relevant matters.
- 2.7 As an expert witness surveyor you must not malign the professional competence of another expert witness. If you feel that expressing doubts about the competence of another expert witness is both justified and necessary in order for you to present a full picture to the tribunal, you may bring to its attention where you consider the experience, knowledge and expertise of another expert witness is lacking, inappropriate or exaggerated, or where you consider evidence is biased, explaining why. Comments should be focused on the facts, interpretation of data and analysis of opinion.

PS 3 Acting as an expert witness, and instructions

- **3.1** You must only act as an expert witness and give expert evidence where you have:
 - (a) the ability to act impartially in the assignment;
 - (b) the experience, knowledge and expertise appropriate for the assignment; and
 - (c) the resources to complete the assignment within the required timescales and to the required standard.
- **3.2** If you have any doubt as to whether you should accept instructions to act as an expert witness, you must advise your prospective client accordingly. If you consider that the tribunal might attach less or no weight to your evidence as a result of particular circumstances, you have a duty to advise your prospective client accordingly.
- **3.3** Prior to accepting instructions to act as an expert witness, you must:
 - (a) advise your prospective client in writing that this PS and, where appropriate, the CPR, or other rules, will apply;
 - (b) make a written offer to your prospective client to supply a copy of the PS; and notify your prospective client that your firm's Complaints Handling Procedure (CHP) (if the firm is an RICS-regulated firm) will not apply to your engagement as expert witness;
 - (c) ensure without delay that you advise your prospective client in writing of the nature and scope of your obligations under the CPR, or other rules that might apply, and of your general obligations, in particular that the overriding duty of the expert witness in giving evidence is to the tribunal;
 - (d) ensure that there is a written record, held by you and sent to (or received from) your prospective client, as to the matters on which expert evidence is required, whether such record is upon the initiative of yourself or those instructing you, and confirm in writing if you propose that any part of the assignment is likely to be undertaken by a person other than yourself;
 - (e) carry out a check to satisfy yourself that no conflict of interest arises (see also PS 2.5–2.6). If you have any doubt whatsoever in this respect, any potential or actual conflict must be reported to those offering instructions

as soon as it becomes apparent. If you consider that the tribunal might attach less or no weight to your evidence as a result of such circumstances, you must advise your prospective client accordingly.

- 3.4 (a) Courts of law will only in exceptional circumstances accept evidence from an expert witness acting under a conditional fee arrangement. There are a number of court protocols and practice directions, and case law, which make the impermissibility of such a fee arrangement clear. Even where such evidence is admitted, the courts may well give it little weight.
 - (b) Where the fee arrangement for your instructions is intended to be a conditional fee, you must, prior to accepting instructions to act as an expert witness, advise your prospective client in writing of the risk that the tribunal may view evidence given under a conditional fee arrangement as being tainted by bias, and may attach less weight to it; it may even refuse to admit it at all, or find the whole conditional fee arrangement void. You must only proceed to act on a conditional fee arrangement where the client has so consented expressly in writing. You are required by PS 5.1(j)(iii) to make a declaration to the tribunal in respect of conditional fee arrangements.
- **3.5** You must confirm to your prospective client in writing and in good time whether or not you accept the prospective client's instructions. Your acceptance should cover your terms of engagement (including the basis upon which your fees will be charged) and any specific mandates given as to important or contentious matters. You must then ensure that all such documents, together with communications from your client, are kept by you as a proper record of your instructions. Any change or supplement to the terms that may be made from time to time should be added to your records.
- **3.6** Any potential or actual conflict arising after instructions have been accepted must be notified immediately to your client. In such circumstances the same reporting procedures and considerations as per PS 3.3(e) above should apply. This paragraph (PS 3.6) does not apply to Single Joint Experts (see instead PS 8.7).

PS 4 Inspections

4.1 Where any inspection of any property/facility is, in your view, required, it must always, where reasonably possible, be carried out to the extent necessary to produce an opinion that is professionally competent. This should have regard to its purpose and the circumstances of the case.

PS 5 Reports and oral evidence

Note: In certain tribunals or circumstances, terminology other than 'reports' may be used; for example, in planning appeals. If produced as evidence for planning inquiries, they would be called 'proofs of evidence' in England and Wales, and Northern Ireland, and 'precognitions' in Scotland; and if produced for hearings or exchanges of written representations they would be called 'statements'.

5.1 In providing a written report to be lodged before a tribunal, you must comply with any rules, orders or directions of the tribunal to which the report is to be presented. You must:

- (a) Give details of your qualifications, and relevant experience, knowledge and expertise (commensurate in detail with the nature and complexity of the case).
- (b) State the substance of all material instructions (whether written or oral). The statement should summarise the facts and instructions given to you that are material to the opinions expressed in the report or upon which those opinions are based. The omission of 'off-the-record' oral instructions is not permitted.
- (c) Give details of any literature or other material which you have relied upon in making the report, including the opinions of others.
- (d) State who carried out any test, experiment or survey which you have used for the report, the methodology and nature thereof, and whether or not the test, experiment or survey has been carried out under your supervision.
- (e) Give the qualifications and relevant experience, knowledge and expertise of the person who carried out any such test, experiment or survey.
- (f) Consider all matters material to the instruction. You must state clearly all assumptions and facts upon which your opinion and reasoning is based, distinguishing between those facts that you believe to be true and those you have assumed (specifying those you have been instructed to assume). Where facts are known to be in dispute you must state separate opinions on each hypothesis put forward. A view in favour of one or other disputed set of facts should not be expressed unless, solely due to your particular experience, knowledge and expertise, you consider one set of facts to be improbable or less probable, in which case a view can be expressed with appropriate reasons. You must indicate where, in what way and why, an opinion is provisional, if you consider that further information is required or if, for whatever reason, you believe a final and unqualified opinion cannot be expressed.
- (g) Where there are ranges of opinion on the matters dealt with in the report:
 - (i) summarise the ranges of opinion and their sources; and
 - (ii) give reasons for your own opinion.
- (h) Include a summary of the conclusions reached.
- (i) Verify the report with a Statement of Truth. In cases where the CPR apply, the wording stipulated by the CPR for the Statement of Truth must always be used see CPR Practice Direction 35 and the *Protocol for the Instruction of Experts to give Evidence in Civil Claims*. The form of wording to be used in relation to non-CPR cases must follow the rules or requirements of the particular tribunal concerned. Where no specific wording for a Statement of Truth is specified by a tribunal's rules or requirements, the following default wording (that of the CPR's Statement of Truth) must be used:

'I confirm that insofar as the facts stated in my report are within my own knowledge I have made clear which they are and I believe them to be true, and that the opinions I have expressed represent my true and complete professional opinion.'

Crown copyright material is reproduced with the permission of the Controller of HMSO and the Queen's Printer for Scotland.

(j) Include all the following declarations at the end of the report:

- (i) 'I confirm that my report includes all facts which I regard as being relevant to the opinions which I have expressed and that attention has been drawn to any matter which would affect the validity of those opinions.'
- (ii) A 'I confirm that my duty to [*specify the tribunal**] as an expert witness overrides any duty to those instructing or paying me, that I have understood this duty and complied with it in giving my evidence impartially and objectively, and that I will continue to comply with that duty as required.' (*The reference used may vary, as appropriate to the particular forum.)

This declaration (PS 5.1(j)(ii)A) should be used in relation to the proceedings of all tribunals **except those in Scotland**, for which the declaration immediately below (PS 5.1(j)(ii)B) should be adopted instead:

 \mathbf{B} – 'I confirm that in preparing this report I have assumed the same duty which would apply to me when giving my expert opinions in a court of law under oath or affirmation. I confirm that this duty overrides any duty to those instructing or paying me, that I have understood this duty and complied with it in giving my opinions impartially and objectively, and that I will continue to comply with that duty as required.'

(iii) 'I confirm that I am not instructed under any conditional fee arrangement.'

Where however you are instructed under a conditional fee arrangement, PS 10.1 mandates that you must disclose that fact by making this declaration to the tribunal: 'I confirm that I am instructed under a conditional fee arrangement.'

- (iv) 'I confirm that I have no conflicts of interest of any kind other than those already disclosed in my report.'
- (v) 'I confirm that my report complies with the requirements of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), as set down in *Surveyors acting as expert witnesses*: RICS practice statement.'
- (k) Personally sign and date the report.
- **5.2** The scope of PS 5.1 covers written reports. In relation to expert evidence to be given orally where no written report has been lodged or submitted to the tribunal, you must at the outset declare to the tribunal that the expert evidence you give complies with the requirements of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), as set down in *Surveyors acting as expert witnesses*: RICS practice statement; or, in the event, any departure from the requirements of the PS should be outlined to the tribunal. You must also declare to the tribunal whether you are instructed under a conditional fee arrangement.

PS 6 Amendment of the contents of written reports

- **6.1** If after disclosure of your report you identify a material inaccuracy or omission, or have a change of opinion on any matter, you must without delay and in writing notify any intention to make changes, and the reasons for such changes, to:
 - (a) those instructing you;

- (b) other parties to the dispute (through legal representatives, if any); and
- (c) where appropriate, the tribunal.
- **6.2** You may be invited to amend or expand a report to ensure accuracy, consistency, completeness, relevance and clarity. You must disregard any suggestions or alterations that do not accord with your true opinions, or distort them.

PS 7 Agreeing facts and resolving differences

- 7.1 As an expert witness, you may be instructed by your client to communicate with the other party in an attempt to agree facts, and to clarify, narrow and resolve the differences between parties. You may in any event be ordered to do this by the tribunal; you must follow any lawful order or direction of the tribunal, notwithstanding any directive by a client to the contrary.
- **7.2** Where, for any reason, you are unable to comply with any order or direction of the tribunal concerning the matters set out in PS 7.1, you must as soon as practicable:
 - (a) prepare a written record of the reason for such non-compliance; and
 - (b) give copies of that record to your client and to the tribunal.
- **7.3** Even where you have not been instructed by your client to communicate with the other party or so ordered by the tribunal, or where the tribunal does not specify any requirements in regard to the manner or scope of such communications, you must raise with your client the possible advantages, disadvantages and appropriateness of:
 - (a) making such communications at as early a stage as possible;
 - (b) identifying with counterpart experts the issues in dispute, the reasons for any differences of opinion and the actions that might be taken to resolve outstanding issues between parties;
 - (c) preparing a statement for the tribunal showing:
 - (i) those facts and issues which are agreed;
 - (ii) those facts and issues which have not been agreed and the reasons for any disagreement on any issue.

PS 8 Single Joint Expert (SJE)

- **8.1** As an SJE you are appointed pursuant to an order by a court of law (CPR 35.7) and then treated by the court as being appointed jointly by parties to the dispute. You should be clear as to the following points, and if necessary, you should require the parties to clarify them:
 - (a) the subject matter of your instructions;
 - (b) the need for expert evidence;
 - (c) the issues to be addressed;
 - (d) the method of presentation of the evidence (written or oral);
 - (e) the release of the expert evidence to the parties; and
 - (f) the need to limit your opinions to your core fields of expertise.

- **8.2** As an SJE you must recognise that you will owe equal duties to all parties to the dispute and must remain independent and transparent in your dealings. You should keep the parties informed of material steps you are taking.
- **8.3** If you have previously given advice to a party you must only accept an appointment as an SJE (whether in the same case or otherwise) where all parties have been fully informed of all relevant information about your prior involvement.
- **8.4** As an SJE, if you have not received instructions from your clients, you must give notice to them of a deadline for the receipt by you of instructions. If you do not receive those instructions, you should apply to the court for directions under CPR 35.14.
- **8.5** Irrespective of whether you have received instructions containing conflicting facts and/or allegations, you should provide a single report.
- **8.6** Where a difficulty arises that appears to lead to incompatibility with your duties as an SJE, you must carefully consider whether to resign the appointment. You should first discuss with those instructing you the particular difficulties experienced and request that they attempt to resolve the matter where possible. You should, as a last resort, consider whether it would be more appropriate to make a written request to the court for directions. In the event of resignation of your appointment, you should notify those instructing you in writing, serving a statement of your reasons.
- **8.7** Where a potential or actual conflict of interest arises after acceptance of instructions as an SJE, it must be notified immediately to those instructing you. If you consider that the tribunal might attach less or no weight to your evidence as a result of such circumstances, you must advise those instructing you accordingly.

PS 9 Advocacy and expert witness roles

- **9.1** In certain circumstances surveyors can act in the same case (but not at the same time) both as surveyor-advocate and as expert witness (see also *Surveyors acting as advocates*: RICS practice statement). This is known as acting 'in a dual role'. You should only act in a dual role where:
 - (a) neither the rules nor the customs of the particular tribunal prohibit you from so acting; and
 - (b) other relevant factors make it appropriate (e.g. the disproportionality of retaining two persons in separate roles).
- **9.2** Where however you intend, or are invited, to act in a dual role as surveyor-advocate and as expert witness you must:
 - (a) having regard to 9.1 above, consider both whether it is permissible to do so (see also PS 3.1) and also whether it is appropriate; and
 - (b) promptly communicate to your client the results of such considerations, setting out in writing the likely advantages and disadvantages, as you see them, of acting in a dual role in the particular circumstances of the case, so as to enable the client to decide whether you should indeed act in such a dual role. In such communication you must detail:

- (i) the possible impact on your impartiality as expert witness, and any possible impact in terms of the perception of that impartiality by others; and any possible impact on your advocacy submissions;
- (ii) whether or not you will be able to fulfill both roles properly at all times; and
- (iii) whether or not it would be disproportionate in all the circumstances, or otherwise in the client's best interests, for a separate person to be retained to undertake one of the roles.
- **9.3** Having complied with PS 9.2 above, you may only act in both roles if the client instructs you so to act.
- **9.4** Where you confirm instructions to act in such a dual role, you must clearly distinguish between those two roles at all times, whether in oral hearings or in written presentations.

PS 10 Conditional fees

10.1 Where you are instructed to give expert evidence under a conditional fee arrangement (see also PS 3.4), you must declare the existence of such a conditional fee arrangement to the tribunal (see PS 5.1(j)(iii)), so that its effect can be taken into account. For the avoidance of doubt, PS 10.1 also applies to your expert witness role where you are to act in the same case in a dual role (i.e. both as expert witness and surveyor-advocate – see also *Surveyors acting as advocates*: PS 3.6).

Appendix: Definitions

This appendix forms a part of the practice statement *Surveyors acting as expert witnesses.* The following are short definitions of key terms. In certain circumstances other terms may be used. Members are advised to refer to a legal dictionary (or legal textbooks), and/or to relevant rules, directions and procedures of the tribunal in question. Members may also find it useful to refer to the equivalent appendix in the publication *Surveyors acting as advocates* (RICS practice statement).

Surveyor-advocate: a person who presents to the tribunal a client's properly arguable case as best as he or she may on the evidence and facts available; a spokesperson for a client who, subject to any restrictions imposed by the surveyor's duty to the tribunal, must do for his or her client all that the client might properly do for him or herself if he or she could. Sometimes also referred to as party representative (although this term is occasionally loosely also used to refer to the surveyor as a negotiator). The advocacy role is markedly different from the role of an expert witness or a negotiator (see below).

Case manager: a person who, acting on behalf of a party, is responsible for the general conduct, management and administration of the case, marshalling and coordinating that party's team (if any) and liaising as appropriate with the tribunal and opposing party.

Conditional fee: this term refers to any arrangement where remuneration – however fixed or calculated – is to be made conditional upon the outcome of proceedings or upon the nature of evidence given. Other labels in common use are 'incentive-fee', 'speculative fee', 'success-fee', 'success-related fee', 'performance fee', 'no-win, no-fee' and 'contingency fee'.

CPR: The *Civil Procedure Rules* (known as CPR) can be found at www.justice.gov.uk/civil/procrules_fin/index.htm. This is the set of rules governing the procedure of the Supreme Court and County Court in England and Wales. These procedural rules are supplemented by Protocols, Pre-Action Protocols, Practice Directions and court guides. The objectives of the CPR are to make access to justice cheaper, quicker and fairer. Some of the CPR apply to action taken before proceedings are issued and so the scope of the CPR should be considered in respect of any matter likely to be litigious.

Direction: a requirement laid down by a tribunal.

Disclosure: the production and inspection of documents in accordance with applicable rules and/or directions of a tribunal. Different rules apply in the Scottish courts where documents can be recovered from another party (known as the 'haver') using 'commission and diligence'.

Evidence: this may be evidence of fact, expert (opinion) evidence or hearsay evidence. The weight to be attached to evidence by a tribunal will depend on various factors, the importance of which may vary from case to case.

Expert witness: a witness called by a tribunal to give expert opinion evidence by virtue of experience, knowledge and expertise of a particular area beyond that expected of a layperson. The overriding duty of the expert witness is to

provide independent, impartial and unbiased evidence to the tribunal – covering all relevant matters, whether or not they favour the client – to assist the tribunal in reaching its determination.

Hearsay evidence: evidence by way of the oral statements of a person other than the witness who is testifying and/or by way of statements in documents, offered to prove the truth of what is stated. See also the *Civil Evidence* (*Scotland*) *Act* 1988 and the *Civil Evidence Act* 1995. In arbitral proceedings, subject to any agreement between the parties or prior direction given by the arbitrator, hearsay will be admissible, subject to notice being given to the other party.

Legal professional privilege (sometimes called '**legal advice privilege**'): legal professional privilege attaches to, and protects:

- communications (whether written or oral) made confidentially;
- passing between a lawyer (acting in his or her professional legal capacity) and his or her client;
- solely for the purpose of giving or obtaining legal advice.

Licensed Access: RICS members are currently permitted by the General Council of the Bar of England and Wales to instruct a barrister direct, without the services of a solicitor for certain purposes. The surveyor should be experienced in the field to which the referral relates. The regime in England and Wales was formerly known as *Direct Professional Access* (DPA). The RICS guidance note *Direct Professional Access to Barristers* is currently under review. RICS members are also able to instruct counsel direct under the terms of the Scottish *Direct Access Rules* and, in Northern Ireland, under *Direct Professional Access*. The relevant Bar Councils (of England and Wales; and Northern Ireland) or the Faculty of Advocates in Scotland, can be consulted for further advice.

Litigation privilege: where litigation is in reasonable contemplation or in progress, this protects:

- written or oral communications made confidentially;
- between either a client and a lawyer, OR either of them and a third party;
- where the dominant purpose is for use in the proceedings;
- either for the purpose of giving or getting advice in relation to such proceedings, or for obtaining evidence to be used in such proceedings.

The privilege applies to proceedings in the High Court, County Court, employment tribunals and, where it is subject to English procedural law, arbitration. With regard to other tribunals, the position is less clear.

Negotiator: a person who negotiates a deal (of property or asset) or solution. Also, in dispute resolution, a person who seeks to negotiate the resolution of the dispute as best he or she may. A negotiator has no involvement in this role with a tribunal. A negotiator's role is markedly different to that of an advocate, expert witness, case manager or witness of fact.

Representation(**s**): this term may, depending on the circumstances and context, be used to refer to one or more of:

- a statement of case;
- an assertion of fact(s);

- expert opinion evidence; and
- an advocacy submission.

Representations may be made orally or in writing.

Scott Schedule: a document setting out, in tabular form, the items in dispute and containing (or allowing to be added) the contentions or agreement of each party. Named after a former Official Referee.

Single Joint Expert (SJE): an expert witness appointed pursuant to an order of a court, and instructed jointly by parties to a dispute. Though relatively rare in Scotland, courts in that jurisdiction can appoint their own expert.

Submission(s): the presentation by way of advocacy of a matter in dispute to the judgment of a tribunal. The term is occasionally used loosely in the surveying community to refer to evidence of fact or expert opinion evidence presented, or to a mix of such expert opinion evidence and advocacy; such usage is often misplaced.

Tribunal: see definition in *Preamble* to the PS.

'Without prejudice': the without prejudice rule will generally prevent statements made in a genuine attempt to settle an existing dispute, whether made in writing or orally, from being put before a court as evidence of admissions against the interest of the party which made them. There are a number of established exceptions to the rule.

Witness of fact: a person who, usually on oath or solemn affirmation, gives evidence before a tribunal on a question of fact.

Acknowledgments

RICS wishes to express its sincere thanks to the following:

Expert Witness Working Group

- Geoffrey Bevans FRICS MCIArb FEWI (Geoffrey Bevans Associates), *Chairman*
- Graham Chase FRICS (Chase and Partners), RICS President 2006–07
- Nicholas Cheffings FCIArb (Lovells LLP)
- Nicholas J Eden FRICS MCIArb (Kinney Green)
- Mark Feltham FRICS MCIArb
- Duncan Preston FRICS FRSA
- Jonathan Seitler QC (Wilberforce Chambers)

Standing Review Committee (SRC)

- Peter Balnave FRICS MCIArb (Cushman & Wakefield)
- Graham Beaumont FRICS (King Sturge)
- Sean Brannigan (4 Pump Court Chambers)
- Guy Fetherstonhaugh QC (Falcon Chambers)
- Alan Gray MRICS MRTPI
- Milton McIntosh MRICS Solicitor-Advocate (K&L Gates LLP)
- John Sims FRICS FCIArb
- Dominic Thompson FRICS FCIArb MAE (Hockenhulls)
- Robert Wilson W. S. (CMS Cameron McKenna)
- Geoffrey Wright FRICS MAE (EA Shaw), Chairman

Convenor: Shiraz Oshidar (RICS Dispute Resolution Faculty)

RICS also wishes to thank the following:

Michael Curry FRICS Hon FIAVI (Member, Lands Tribunal for Northern Ireland), Michael Driscoll QC (Maitland Chambers), Simon Duffy (President, Midland Rent Assessment Panel), Paul Francis FRICS (Member, Lands Tribunal for England and Wales), Adam Heppinstall (Barrister, Henderson Chambers), Stuart Macfarlane (Semple Fraser), John McHugh (McClure Naismith Solicitors), J. Gordon Reid QC FCIArb (Axiom Advocates), Neil Tainsh (Clerk, Lands Tribunal for Scotland).

Paul Barry FRICS (Navigant Consulting), Patrick Bond FRICS IRRV (Valuation Office Agency), Katie Bradford FCIArb (Linklaters LLP), Martin Burns (RICS), Marie Busfield FRICS FCIArb (Churston Heard), Carl Calvert MRICS CITP MBCS (Calvert Consulting), Patrick Cooke-Priest FRICS (Consultant), Tim Cooper FRICS FCIArb, Jonathan Cope FRICS MCIArb Barrister (MCMS Ltd), Geoffrey Dale FRICS (CB Richard Ellis), Christopher Dancaster FRICS FCIArb, John Duff MRICS MRTPI (John Duff Planning), Alistair Dunn FRICS ACIArb, Jennifer Ellis FRICS (Langley-Taylor LLP), Tony Ensom FRICS FCIArb MEWI, Martin Farr FRICS FCIArb (GVA Grimley),

David Gilbert FRICS FCIArb IRRV (Lambert Smith Hampton), Douglas Gillespie FRICS IRRV (Highland and Western Isles Valuation Joint Board), Nicholas Gould FRICS FCIArb Solicitor (Fenwick Elliott LLP), Paul Grundy FRICS (Paul Grundy Surveying), Torquil Gyngell FRICS MCIArb (Hargreaves Newberry Gyngell), Yvonne Hanly (RICS), Antonia Hatton (RICS), Ross Hepburn MRICS MCIArb (Cushman & Wakefield), Colin Hunter MRICS IRRV (storeys: ssp Chartered Surveyors), Christopher Jenkins FRICS FCIArb (Howard Jenkins), Mark Loveday MCIArb (Tanfield Chambers), Eamonn Malone FRICS (The Devonshire Partnership), Antonio Masella MRICS MCIOB IRRV (Valuation Tribunal Service), Bruce Maunder Taylor FRICS (Maunder Taylor Chartered Surveyors), Roger Messenger FRICS IRRV (Wilks Head & Eve), Matthew Molloy FRICS FCIArb FCIOB MAE Barrister (MCMS Ltd), Eric Mouzer FRICS FCIArb, George Nicholls FRICS FAAV (Kemsley LLP), Michael Pearce MRICS (Valuation Office Agency), Blake Penfold FRICS MCIArb IRRV (GL Hearn), David Rainey FRICS IRRV (Land & Property Services, FNP, N. Ireland), Brian Reeves FRICS FCIArb (Brian Reeves & Co), David Richardson CBE FRICS (Sanderson Weatherall), Jerry Schurder FRICS IRRV (Gerald Eve), Edward Shaw MRICS (Savills), Brandon Simms FRICS MCIArb (Brandon Simms Chartered Surveyors), Michael Stokes FRICS MCIArb (Navigant Consulting), David C. Thomson MRICS (Dunbartonshire and Argyll and Bute Valuation Joint Board), Christopher Thorne FRICS FCIArb (Atisreal Ltd), Peter Tobin FRICS FCIArb (Strettons Chartered Surveyors), Philip Tobin FRICS MCIArb (Strettons Chartered Surveyors), David Tretton FRICS IRRV (Valuation Office Agency), John S. Turner MRICS (Retired), Julian Womersley FRICS (Valuation Office Agency).

RICS EXPERT WITNESS REGISTRATION SCHEME

The RICS Expert Witness Registration Scheme (EWRS) is a voluntary scheme and register for surveyors who act as expert witnesses before tribunals in the UK.

The register lists individual RICS members with the experience, knowledge and expertise to provide impartial, independent evidence for a wide range of specialist fields. The register is accessible via an online, searchable directory that is available to the general public, lawyers and other potential clients seeking surveyors to act in an expert witness capacity.

All EWRS-registered expert witnesses will have:

- provided references from at least two people (one of whom is a solicitor or barrister) who have used the surveyor's expert evidence in the last three years;
- provided an expert witness report prepared for judicial/quasi-judicial proceedings within the last five years; this is assessed by RICS to demonstrate satisfactory knowledge of key criteria such as:
 - knowledge of *Civil Procedure Rules* (CPR);
 - relevant Practice Directions;
 - case law and codes of best practice, including RICS' own mandatory practice statements such as *Surveyors acting as expert witnesses*;
- been interviewed (if deemed necessary) by the Registration Committee before becoming an EWRS-registered expert witness.

Further information on the RICS EWRS, including costs and joining details, is available at: www.rics.org/ewrs

Contact:

Zoe Terry RICS Education Department Surveyor Court, Westwood Way Coventry CV4 8JE United Kingdom T: 0870 333 1600